IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEMAR MATTHEWS,	Appellant,	Supreme Court No.	⁶²²⁴¹ Electronically Filed Aug 14 2013 01:48 p.m
vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Respondent,	Tracie K. Linden	Tracie K. Lindeman

OPENING BRIEF

WILLIAM H. GAMAGE, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 9024 GAMAGE & GAMAGE 5580 South FT. Apache, Ste 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 386-9529 (702) 382-9529 (Facsimile) *Counsel for Appellant MATTHEWS*

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO, ESQ.

ATTORNEY GENERAL 100 N. Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1100 *Counsel for State of Nevada*

STEVEN WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 671-2750 (702) 477-2957 (Facsimile)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO MOVE TO SEVER HIS CLIENT FROM A JOINT TRIAL OF ALL DEFENDANTS.
- II. SUBSTANTIAL DANGER EXISTS THAT AN INNOCENT MAN WAS CONVICTED AS THE EVIDENCE AGAINST HIM SOLELY RESTS UPON THE FLIMSY IDENTIFICATION BY TWO OFFICERS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal, pursuant to NRS 34.575, NRAP 4(b), and NRAP 22 regarding the denial by the trial court of Appellant's post conviction writ of habeas corpus after completion of an evidentiary hearing.

On or about December 7, 2006, an Information was electronically filed in Department XVIII of the Eighth Judicial District Court charging Appellant Jemar Matthews and co-defendant Pierre Joshlin, with Conspiracy to Commit Murder (NRS 199.480, NRS 200.010, NRS 200.030); Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (NRS 200.010, NRS 200.030, NRS 193.165); Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (NRS 100.010, 200.030, 193.300, 193.165); Discharging a Firearm at or into a Structure (NRS 202.285); Possession of a Short Barreled Rifle (NRS 202.275); Conspiracy to Commit Robbery Possession of a Short Barreled Rifle (NRS 202.275); Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (NRS 199.480, 200.380); two counts of Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (NRS 200.380, NRS 193.165) and two counts of Assault with a Deadly Weapon (NRS 200.471). Matthews was then arraigned on December 11, 2006, before the Arraignment Court Judge at which time Matthews pled "not guilty," and invoked his right to trial within 60 days.

A trial by jury commenced on May 7, 2007, and concluded on May 11, 2007. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts on May 11, 2007. Matthews filed a timely Motion for New Trial on or about May 21, 2007, which was primarily premised on alleged prosecutorial misconduct that occurred during closing arguments. The Court heard the matter on July 9, 2007. That motion was denied. Matthews was then sentenced

to life with the possibility of parole on the murder charge with an equal and consecutive sentence for the weapon enhancement.

With regard to the other charges, Matthews was essentially sentenced to concurrent time with the exception of mandatory enhancements which ran consecutive within the counts but concurrent to the life sentence on the murder count. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on July 17, 2007. The Order denying the Motion for a New Trial was filed on September 17, 2007. A Notice of Appeal was filed on August 17, 2007. Petitioner's conviction on all counts was affirmed. The Order of Affirmance was filed on June 30, 2009

On December 14, 2010, Matthews filed his original Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. AA0001420. On or about July 9, 2012, Matthews filed his Supplemental Points and Authorities in Support Of Petition For Writ Of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). AA1433 and AA1446 (Amended Supplement). The State opposed the writ and supplemental points and authorities on or about September 10, 2012. AA0001512. Finally, Matthews filed a Reply on or about September 24, 2012. AA1518.

An evidentiary hearing was held on or about October 12, 2012 wherein testimony was heard from trial counsel. AA1503.

Based upon the briefing of the issues and testimony taken from trial counsel, the trial court denied Matthews' writ. On or about December 4, 2012, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were filed to reflect the ruling of the Court. AA1572.

MATTHEWS, through this appeal of his trial court denial of his post conviction writ of habeas corpus now asks the Nevada Supreme Court to overturn the trial courts denial of his writ.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mercy Williams (hereinafter "Mercy") was killed by a single .22 caliber bullet in the evening hours of September 30, 2006, while standing with others in front of a friend's house on Balzar Street in North Las Vegas. AA420 and AA1224. Two Las Vegas police officers, Cupp and Walter, assigned to the "Problem Solving Unit" were in the vicinity and proceeded to the location where they believed the gunshots had come from. AA586 to AA591.

A short time after the shooting, a car theft took place approximately one block away. Officers Cupp and Walter located and pursued the stolen vehicle which was a silver, Lincoln Towncar with tinted windows. AA598. The victims related that this vehicle had been taken by three or more young African-American men. AA597 to AA602.

Officers Cupp and Walters engaged in a short car chase that proceeded down Martin Luther King Boulevard to Jimmy Street and concluded very suddenly on Lexington. AA599 to AA600. The officers testified that just prior to the stolen vehicle crashing into a fire hydrant, the driver of the vehicle very briefly leaned out of the door of the car while holding a rifle or shotgun. AA602-AA603. The police saw the driver exit the vehicle (or fall from the vehicle) and they ran into him with their patrol car. AA604. He then got up quickly and ran away. AA605. Two others exited the vehicle but the

- 3 -

officers could not see what they looked like due to the dark tint on the vehicle windows. *Id.* A chase of the fleeing individuals ensued. AA600 to AA605 and AA758 to AA760. It was late at night and very dark where this car crash had occurred. AA668 and AA760.

During the incident, Officer Cupp fired shots at one of the fleeing suspects. AA760. Not long after that, Pierre Joshlin was found in a nearby dumpster and within that same dumpster were black gloves and a .45 caliber handgun. AA764 to AA765. Officer Walter responded to the sound of Office Cupp's gunshots and abandoned his pursuit of the alleged driver consequently losing sight of that person. AA611.

Approximately one hour after the crash, Matthews, was located by a K-9 dog in some bushes in a backyard near Jimmy Street. AA698. The dog bit Matthews on the shoulder and the hand. AA712.

During the trial, the State produced no lay witnesses from either the shooting or the car robbery capable of identifying Matthews as being present at or involved in either crime. However, the identification and other evidence presented against the co-defendant, Pierre Joshlin, was substantial .AA532. Officers Walter and Cupp both admitted to only catching a "fleeting glimpse" of the fleeing driver from the stolen vehicle. AA596 to AA606 and AA809 to AA810.

Cupp only identified Matthews at in-court proceedings. AA781. Officer Walter identified Matthews as the fleeing driver after a one-on-one line-up while Matthews was in custody. AA650 to AA655. Officer Walter was allowed over objection to testify during the trial that he was "100 per cent" certain of his identification and that they had "the right guy". AA681 to AA684. Officer Walters didn't dispute, however, that

Matthews is 511" (AA655 to AA656) which conflicted with the testimony of the car theft victims who felt the driver was substantially shorter. *Id*.

No physical evidence was admitted at trial linking Matthews to the Lincoln Towncar or the weapons booked as evidence. No evidence was produced by the State linking Matthews to co-defendant, Pierre Joshlin. Indeed, Joshlin was found at a different location from Matthews an hour or so earlier that evening. AA764 to AA765 and AA698.

The State offered no evidence of motive or any connection between the defendants or the alleged "intended" victims of the shooting. Also, both Officers Walter and Cupp agreed that Matthews was hit in the legs by the police vehicle which was traveling approximately 10-15 miles an hour, yet he exhibited no discernable injuries other than dog bites after being examined once taken into custody. AA600 to AA605; AA708; and AA758 to AA760. Further, a number of inconsistent descriptions were given regarding the shooter as well as the ultimate driver of the stolen vehicle, all of which had that person at 5'7" or shorter and in long pants. AA490 to AA579. During the trial, Matthews was identified from his Nevada ID as being 5ft 11" tall. AA1248. Matthews was wearing jean shorts at the time of his arrest (AA340-AA341) and Joslin was wearing dark pants at the time of his apprehension. AA760 and AA764 to AA765.

Lastly, Matthews produced a witness to establish that he was hiding in the bushes when apprehended because he saw the police and didn't want to be arrested for violating an active restraining order which was in effect during this time period. AA1243 to AA1248. Matthews was apprehended in the bushes approximately 5 houses away from the house that the woman who procured the restraining order lived in. *Id*. The restraining order required him to stay out of that area or face arrest. Evidence of that restraining order was presented to the jury *Id*.

ARGUMENT

This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a post conviction writ of habeas corpus (involving a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel) along with Constitutional and statutory issues at law de novo. *Evans v. State*, 117 Nev. 609, 622 (2001); *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987 (1996); and, *In re Halverson*, 169 P.3d 1161, 1172 (2007).

A clear danger exists that an innocent man was wrongfully convicted in this case due to the failure of trial counsel to move to sever Appellant Matthews from his codefendants trial. The evidence of guilt against Mr. Matthews hinged upon the weak, unreliable identifications by two police officers who responded to a dark, nighttime shooting scene under dangerous and uncertain circumstances. Appellant Matthew was merely present in the vicinity of the shooting and attendant chase. As this Court is aware, "mere presence" at a crime scene is not enough to sustain a conviction. *Brooks v. State*, 103 Nev. 611, 747 P.2d 893 (1987).

No physical evidence was offered by the State linking Matthews to the crimes Officers Cupp and Walter were investigating. The State's case rested upon the testimony of Officers Walter and Cupp in identifying Matthews even though they had only a "fleeting glimpse" of the driver of the stolen vehicle. Officer Walter never saw the driver's face after this mere "glimpse." Further, while the driver of the stolen vehicle was struck by Officer Walter's patrol car prior to fleeing the scene, Matthews was found to have no injury upon his person other than dog bit wounds. Likewise, police could not testify that the driver of the stolen vehicle was involved in the earlier shooting or homicide since they did not witness the shooting and the stolen car was not the car driven by the shooters. Moreover, no corroborating forensic evidence linked the bullet that caused Mercy Williams' death with the rifle police found in the grass near the suspect vehicle. It was merely the same caliber.

Aside from the "fleeting glimpse" of Officer Walter, no evidence existed to put the rifle recovered near the stolen vehicle in Matthew's possession. Quite the contrary. There was evidence introduced during the trial which tended to place this rifle in the possession of a passenger in the backseat of the suspect vehicle. The police testified that based upon their fleeting glimpses that Matthews was the driver of the stolen car. There was never any testimony that Matthews was a passenger in that car. Based upon this thin veil of evidence, No rational jury would have convicted Matthews had he been tried separately.

I. MATTHEW' TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO MOVE TO SEVER HIS CLIENT FROM A JOINT TRIAL OF ALL DEFENDANTS

Appellant was denied his right to due process of law and his Sixth Amendment Constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel triggering his Constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial as guaranteed under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution of the United States. Matthews' attorney was ineffective in violation of his Sixth Amendment right because he failed to attempt to sever his trial from that of Joshlin at any time prior to or during his trial. A claim that counsel provided constitutionally inadequate representation is subject to the two-part test established by the United States Supreme Court. *Nika v. State*, 198 P.3d 839, 844 (Nev. 2008) citing to *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88; *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987 (1996).

A defendant must demonstrate prejudice by showing a reasonable probability that but for counsel's error, the result of the trial would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Thomas v. State*, 120 Nev. 37, 43-44 (2004). "The defendant carries the affirmative burden of establishing prejudice." *Riley v. State*, 110 Nev. 638, 646 (1994). A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-689, 694; and *see Dawson v. State*, 108 Nev. 112, 115 (1992). A court need not consider both prongs of the *Strickland* test if a defendant makes an insufficient showing on either prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE

In *U.S. v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648 (1984), the United States Supreme Court ruled that a defendant is denied effective assistance of counsel in violation of his due process rights if the attorney fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing. *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 658. The Court reasoned that the Sixth Amendment envisions that the accused is entitled to a reasonably competent attorney whose advice is one within the range of competence required of attorneys in criminal cases. *Id.* at 657. The Constitution guarantees an accused adequate legal assistance. *Id.* and U.S. Const. amend. VI. A criminal defendant has a constitutional guarantee of a fair trial and a competent attorney. U.S. Const. Amend V, VI, and XIV. Demonstrable errors on the part of defense counsel are not enough to trigger a constitutional violation. *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 657. It is only when the trial process begins to lose its character as a confrontation between adversaries that the constitutional guarantee is violated. *Id.* Accordingly, the focus of the inquiry is on the adversarial process and whether the accused received a fair trial. *Id.* at 657-58.

The United States Supreme Court has clearly established that counsel has an "obligation to conduct a thorough investigation." Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 520 (2003). In Wiggins, the Court also held that this duty to investigate is not a "new" rule for *Teague* purposes and should be applied retroactively. *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 520, see also Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 301 (1989). Strickland itself clearly established that, in evaluating counsel's investigation, federal courts must objectively assess the reasonableness of counsel's performance against "prevailing professional norms." Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 522. This assessment "includes a context-dependent consideration of the challenged conduct as seen from counsel's perspective at the time" and "every effort must be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." Id. (internal quotations and citations omitted). Strategic choices made after less than a complete investigation are reasonable only to the extent that reasonable professional judgment supports the weakness of little or no investigation. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 674 and Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 521-22. Trial counsel's failure to investigate is only entitled deference if it was a strategic judgment based on a reasonable decision that made the

investigation unnecessary. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-691. Again, *Strickland* only requires a "reasonable probability."

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled on several occasions that counsel must, at a minimum, conduct a reasonable investigation so as to be able to make an informed decision regarding representation of a client. *See Rios v. Rocha*, 299 F.3d 796, 805 (9th Cir. 2002) ("The failure to investigate is especially egregious when a defense attorney fails to consider potentially exculpatory evidence"); *Avila v. Galaza*, 297 F.3d 911, 920 (9th Cir. 2002) (holding that defense counsel's failure to interview potential eyewitnesses to a shooting where his client was accused of being the shooter constituted deficient performance: "[C]ounsel can hardly be said to have made a strategic choice when she has not yet obtained the facts on which a decision could be made"); and, *Harris v. Wood*, 64 F.3d 1432, 1435-36 (9th Cir. 1995) (defense counsel rendered deficient performance by failing to interview witnesses identified in police reports).

The American Bar Association's Standard for Criminal Justice (ABA SCJ) § 4-4.1 has been repeatedly cited by the United States Supreme Court as a guideline for counsel's duty to investigate. *See Williams (Terry) v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362, 396 (2000) and *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 522. ABA SCJ § 4-4.1(a) opines that "[d]efense counsel should conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to the merits of the case and the penalty in the event of conviction." The investigation should also "include efforts to secure information in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities." Moreover, "[t]he duty to investigate exists regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to defense counsel

of facts constituting guilt..." ABA SCJ § 4-4.1(a). The comments to § 4-4.1 state, "[e]ffective investigation by the lawyer has an important bearing on competent representation at trial, for without adequate investigation the lawyer is not in a position to make the best use of such mechanisms as cross-examination or impeachment of adverse witnesses at trial . . . the lawyer needs to know as much as possible about the character and background of witnesses to take advantage of impeachment."

Here, between the time that trial counsel were appointed to represent Matthews and the filing of the Bench Brief on May 8, 2007 (AA1531), which mentions possible severance, they had more than adequate time to carefully review the discovery, to conduct their own investigation, to interview the defendant and the witnesses and to prepare for trial.

In reviewing this Bench Brief, it is apparent that prior to trial, defense counsel was well aware that the State intended to try Joshlin and Matthews together. Various evidentiary issues were brought to the court's attention in this brief including potential statements by co-defendant Joshlin which could be admissible against him but which would be inadmissible and highly prejudicial against Matthews under *Crawford v*. *Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004) and *Bruton v*. *United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620 (1968).

In realizing the harsh realities of trying co-defendants together and the danger of each violating the due process rights of the other, Matthews' defense counsel noted in the Bench Brief as follows: In the event, the Defense feels Mr. Matthews is being prejudiced by joinder of the parties, it is anticipated that a Motion to Sever may be made.

AA1531. While this statement was made in the context of the possibility of inadmissible statements being allowed into evidence which would negatively impact Matthews, the obvious analogy can be made to other evidence coming in against Joshlin during the joint trial which the jury could not help but consider against Matthews.

Once Matthews was linked to Joslin by the State's Opening Statement and Closing Arguments; in the minds of the jurors, Matthews was doomed. The case against Joshlin was much stronger than the case against Matthews. Joshlin was chased and tracked from the stolen vehicle to the dumpster where he was ultimately caught and arrested. A handgun and glove were also found in the dumpster where Joshlin had been hiding. The bullets found at the first crime scene were forensically linked to that handgun. The identification of Joshlin and the circumstantial evidence against him was much stronger than that against Matthews.

FAILURE TO MOVE TO SEVER

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