## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEMAR MATTHEWS,

Appellant,

Case No. 62241

Electronically Filed Sep 10 2013 04:28 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Deniel of Timely Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM H. GAMAGE, ESQ. Gamage & Gamage Nevada Bar #009024 5580 South Fort Apache, Ste. 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 386-9529 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

# **B.** Matthews' Argument Must Be Limited to Claims Raised in the Post-Conviction Record Below.

This Court will not consider claims for relief that were not raised in the original post-conviction petition for habeas corpus or considered by the district court below. See Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991), overruled on other grounds by Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25 (2004). Claims not raised in the district court are not properly raised for the first time on appeal, and this Court will generally not consider them. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 416, 990 P.2d 1263, 1276 (1999); Hill v. State, 114 Nev. 169, 178, 953 P.2d 1077, 1084 (1998); Zampanti v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 651, 653, 473 P.2d 386, 387 (1970); McGill v. Chief of Police, 85 Nev. 307, 309, 454 P.2d 28, 29 (1969). "However, we have indicated that such claims may be considered in limited circumstances when the petitioner demonstrates both good cause and prejudice, and the claim involves questions of law that do not require factual determinations outside the record." Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 1071, 146 P.3d 265, 269-70 (2006); Rippo v. State, 122 Nev. 1086, 1091, 146 P.3d 279, 282-83 (2006).

In this instant appeal, Matthews claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate his case. However, Matthews has failed to preserve this issue for appeal. <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1239, 1259, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997). The sole issue raised in both Matthews' Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and his Supplemental Points and Authorities was the effectiveness of counsel in failing to file a motion to sever. In neither motion did Matthews raise the issue of the effectiveness of investigation by trial counsel, nor was the issue ever raised at the October 12, 2012, hearing on Matthews' Petition. As a result, the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order contain no mention of a claim regarding the failure to investigate by trial counsel. <u>See, generally</u>, 7 AA 1572.

To the extent Matthews now attempts to introduce an additional claim of inadequate investigation under the umbrella heading of "ineffective assistance of counsel," that claim is beyond the scope of his original petition and thus improper. Matthews presents no evidence to support a finding of good cause and prejudice to overcome his failure to assert this claim in the first instance. Thus, it is precluded from consideration here and should not be recognized by this Court. McKenna v. State, 114 Nev. 1044, 968 P.2d 739 (1998) (holding that this Court will not consider an argument on appeal that was not first argued before, and therefore considered by the district court on the merits). Moreover, even if this Court were to address this claim for the first time on appeal, the claim has no factual substance and consists merely of legal citations. It is therefore a conclusory claim undeserving of review. See Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

### C. Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Failing to Move to Sever Matthews' Case from his Co-Defendant's Case

NRS 173.135 allows for two or more defendants to be charged under the same Indictment or Information if they participated in the same criminal conduct. Persons who have been jointly indicted should be tried jointly, absent compelling reasons to the contrary. Jones v. State, 111 Nev. 848, 853, 899 P.2d 544 (1995). Joint trials for co-defendants tend to be favored because of judicial economy. <u>Id.</u> at 854. Indeed, joint trials of persons charged with committing the same offense expedites the administration of justice, relieves trial docket congestion, conserves judicial time, lessens the burden on citizens called to sacrifice time and money while serving as jurors, and avoids the necessity of calling witnesses more than one time. <u>Id.</u> at 853-54; <u>see also United States v. Brady</u>, 579 F.2d 1121 (9th Cir. 1978), <u>cert. denied</u>, 439 U.S. 1074, 99 S. Ct. 849 (1979).

A trial judge may sever a joint trial if "it appears that a defendant...is prejudiced by a joinder of... defendants...for trial together." NRS 174.165(1); <u>Chartier v.</u> <u>State</u>, 124 Nev. 760, 191 P.3d 1182 (2008). In determining whether any action is warranted pursuant to NRS 174.165(1), a district court must look at the facts of each case. <u>Chartier</u>, 124 Nev. at 765, 191 P.3d at 1185. Demonstrating spill-over prejudice alone is not sufficient to demonstrate substantial prejudice. <u>See Lisle v.</u> <u>State</u>, 113 Nev. 679, 689-90, P.2d 459, 466 (1997), overruled on other grounds by <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1089, 1117 n. 9, 968 P.2d 296, 315 n. 9 (1998). In looking at the facts, the district court should grant a severance "'only if there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence.' " <u>Chartier</u>, 124 Nev. at 765, 191 P.3d at 1185 (quoting <u>Marshall v.</u> <u>State</u>, 118 Nev. 642, 647, 56 P.3d 376, 379 (2002)).

Notably, "[t]he decision to sever is within the discretion of the district court, and an appellant has the 'heavy burden' of showing that the court abused its discretion." <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 156, 164, 42 P.3d 249, 255 (2002) (quoting <u>Amen v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 749, 756, 801 P.2d 1354, 1359 (1990)), overruled on other grounds by <u>Grey v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 110, 117–18, 178 P.3d 154, 160 (2008).

#### a. <u>Counsel's Performance Was Not Deficient</u>

Matthews claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to sever his case from that of his co-defendant, Pierre Joshlin. This claim is without merit for three reasons. First, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must be supported with specific factual allegations which, if true, would entitle a defendant to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied or repelled by the record. <u>Id.</u> "A habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective assistance claim by a preponderance of evidence." Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1002, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).

Matthews claims the evidence was so much stronger against his co-defendant than himself, and thus once Matthews was linked to Joshlin, "in the minds of the jurors, Matthews was doomed." However, Matthews incorrectly assesses the weight of the evidence against him. This Court held in its Order of Affirmance:

"...[t]here was significant evidence indicating that Matthews participated in the shooting, robbery, and police chase (a pursuing officer identified Matthews as the driver in possession of the rifle, the bullet that killed the victim came from the same type of rifle in Matthews' possession, the red glove found near where the police apprehended Matthews tested positive for gunshot residue, and Matthews closely resembled the description of the shooting and robbery suspects)." 7 AA 1500.

Matthews' bare assertion that the evidence against him was "weak" is belied by the record and as such, fails to support his claim of ineffective assistance by a preponderance of evidence.

Second, there was never any legal basis for requesting a severance, and therefore counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to do so. A court will only grant a severance if joinder compromises a specific trial right, or prevents the jury from making a reliable judgment about a defendant's guilt or innocence. <u>Chartier</u>, 124 Nev. at 765, 191 P.3d at 1185. Matthews has not demonstrated that a *particular trial right* of his was compromised when counsel failed to file a motion to sever. Matthews simply asserts that the prejudice he suffered in the joint trial was "obvious." App. Brief pp. 14. This bare assertion does not meet the requirement for granting a severance.

Insomuch as Matthews argues the jury did not make a reliable judgment as to his guilt due to discrepancy in the evidence between himself and Joshlin, this claim is belied by the record as previously addressed. The weight of the evidence against Matthews was significant, and based on the evidence presented at trial, the jury made a reliable judgment as to Matthews' guilt. Furthermore, a mere disparity in the quantity of evidence between Matthews and Joshlin does not, by itself, prevent a jury from making a reliable judgment as to Matthews' guilt. Additionally, at the October 12, 2012, hearing on Matthews' Petition, trial counsel Dayvid Figler, Esq., testified that "there existed no legal basis for severance of Matthews' trial." 7 AA 1542. Mr. Figler explained that the motion to sever was only going to be necessary if Bruton violations occurred during trial. 7 AA 1543. While the bench brief filed by trial counsel alludes to the possibility of severance, Mr. Figler explained that a severance was only necessary *if* the State attempted to offer evidence in violation of Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). 7 AA 1542. Counsel filed the bench brief only to put the court on notice of the issue with Bruton violations, nothing more. 7 AA 1542-3. And, because a Bruton violation never occurred, trial counsel had no need to file a motion to sever. 7 AA 1548. At the conclusion of the hearing, the District Court found that any pre-trial severance motion, if raised, would have been futile. 7 AA 1576-7. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order reflect that Matthews failed to establish adequate grounds for severance.

Finding of Fact #8 states "[Matthews] did not establish that severance of his trial from his co-defendant was warranted." 7 AA 1574. Importantly, this determination by the District Court is entitled to deference by this Court on appeal. <u>See Riley v.</u> <u>State</u>, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994) (a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong).

As such, there was never any legal basis before or during trial to request a motion to sever, and Matthews fails to allege a legal basis now. This Court does not require trial counsel to "make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Donovan v State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). Therefore, trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to file a futile motion. <u>See Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 137 P.3d 1095 (2006).

Third, trial counsel's decision not to seek severance was a strategic decision. "There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992), citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. The decision to not file a motion to sever was strategic because trial counsel believed it could use the discrepancy in evidence to its advantage. 7 AA 1544. Mr. Figler testified that because the evidence was stronger against Joshlin, he believed highlighting the weaker evidence against Matthews to the jury would prove beneficial. 7 AA 1544. This decision was made by trial counsel after reviewing the relevant discovery, and evaluating the strengths and weaknesses of Matthews' case. 7 AA 1544. Thus, the decision to not seek severance was strategic, made after a thorough investigation, and should not be second-guessed by this Court on appeal.

"Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases."" Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975), quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 1449 (1970). Under the facts of this case, trial counsel acted within the range of competence demanded of a defense attorney. There was no legal basis to support a motion to sever, and trial counsel did not believe Matthews was prejudiced by the joinder. As such, counsel rendered reasonably effective assistance and Matthews' claim was properly denied.

#### b. <u>Counsel's Performance Did Not Prejudice the Defense</u>

Even if this Court finds counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, Matthews has not demonstrated there was a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Matthews claims that "if trial counsel had moved to sever the trials, only good things could have happened." App. Brief pp. 13. One of these "good things" was that "the motion could have been granted, and the danger of undue prejudice to Matthews based on joinder with Joshlin would have been avoided. <u>Id.</u> 13-14. As an initial matter, the motion to sever would not have been granted if brought. <u>See</u> argument *supra*. Furthermore, broad allegations of prejudice are not sufficient to support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. <u>See Hargrove</u>, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225 (1984). By simply alleging that "good things" could have happened, or that undue prejudice generally could have been avoided, Matthews does not address how failing to file a futile motion *prejudiced* the defense.

Matthews also claims that the State's linking of himself with his co-defendant during closing argument was prejudicial because the evidence against his co-defendant was "much stronger" than the evidence presented against himself. This claim is belied by the record as the facts clearly indicate the evidence implicating Matthews was significant. See Order of Affirmance. Moreover, Matthews fails to show there was a *reasonable probability* that the result would have been different had counsel filed a motion to sever. Demonstrating spill-over prejudice alone is not sufficient to demonstrate substantial prejudice. See Lisle v. State, 113 Nev. 679, 689-90, P.2d 459, 466 (1997), overruled on other grounds by Middleton v. State, 114 Nev. 1089, 1117 n. 9, 968 P.2d 296, 315 n. 9 (1998). That the evidence against

his co-defendant was even more overwhelming does not negate the significance of the evidence against Matthews, nor does it show that Matthews would not have been convicted on all counts if his trial was severed. Matthews has failed to establish that he suffered prejudice as a result of counsel's decision to not sever his case. Accordingly, Matthews' claim was properly denied.

## II. MATTHEWS' CLAIM OF INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE IS BARRED BY LAW OF THE CASE.

Where an issue has already been decided on the merits by the Nevada Supreme Court, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 884, 34 P.3d 519, 535 (2001). A Matthews cannot avoid the doctrine of the law of the case by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings. <u>Hall v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975). This doctrine prevents the continued litigation of already settled issues by promoting both finality and efficiency in the appellate process. <u>Christianson v. Colt Indus</u>. <u>Operating Corp.</u>, 486 U.S. 800, 816, 108 S. Ct. 2166, 2177 (1988), citing 1B J. Moore, J. Lucas, & T. Currier, Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 0.404[1], p. 118 (1984).

Matthews claims he was convicted almost solely on evidence by two eyewitnesses, and cites voluminous authority on the unreliability of eyewitness testimony. It appears that Matthews is attempting to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of the crimes charged. To this extent, Matthews' claim is barred by the law of the case. On direct appeal, Matthews raised the issue of whether there was sufficient evidence to convict him of any of the offenses. 7 AA 1573. This Court affirmed Matthews' conviction on all counts finding there was "significant evidence indicating that Matthews participated in the shooting, robbery, and police chase." 7 A 1497; 1573. Thus, the sufficiency of the evidence has already been decided by this Court, and will not be revisited. Accordingly, Matthews' claim should be denied.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Wherefore, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court AFFIRM the judgment of the district court.